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1. Name_________________

historic N.A.___________________________ ___________ 

and or common Windsor Farms Historic District

2. Location________________
street & number See continuation sheet

For NPS use only

received j 9 g 

date entered APR I I

ISLA* not for publication

city, town South Windsor N_*A vicinity of

state Connecticut code 09 county Hartford code 003

3. Classification
Category
_JL_ district 

building(s)
structure
site
object

Ownership
public
private

J^both 
Public Acquisition

in process
being considered

N.A.

Status
X occupied

unoccupied
work in progress

Accessible
y^ yes: restricted

. yes: unrestricted
no

Present Use
X agriculture

commercial
X educational 

entertainment
government
industrial
military

museum
park

X private residence 
X religious 

scientific
transportation
other:

4. Owner of Property

name Multiple ownership

street & number See continuation sheet

city, town South Windsor vicinity of state Connecticut

courthouse, registry of deeds, etc. South Windsor Town Hall

street & number Boute 194 and Ellington Road

city, town South Windsor state Connecticut

6. Representation in Existing Surveys ^e continuation sheet.
title State Register of Historic Places has this property been determined eligible? __ yes JL_ no 

date 1985 ___________________________________ federal _X state __ county __ local

depository for survey records Connecticut Historical Commission, 59 South Prospect Street______

city, town Hartford ______________________________ state Connecticut______



7. Description

Condition Check one Check one
X excellent __ deteriorated __ unaltered _JL_ original site
X good __ ruins X altered __ moved date

lir X unexposed

Describe the present and original (if known) physical appearance

The Windsor Farms Historic District is a 2% square mile area on the east bank of the Con­ 
necticut River which comprises the historical center of South Windsor. Main Street, the 
principal street in the district, runs in a generally northeasterly direction, bisecting 
open fields under cultivation by the tobacco farmers of this rural village for several cen­ 
turies .
The fields to the west of Main Street lie in the floodplain of the river, 10 to 20 feet above 
sea level. Main Street, which maintains a parallel course to the river (the western boundary 
of the district) at a distance of 4000-7000 feet, is situated above the floodplain on a level 
terrace, 30 to 40 feet above the river. Historic farmhouses with their associated barns and 
outbuilding^ ; line both sides of the street. To the east, cultivated fields extend from direct­ 
ly behind the houses to the treeline, which runs in a north-south direction partially along 
the course of the Podunk River, forming the eastern boundary of the district. Although a few 
tobacco barns are located on high ground directly behind the historic houses on the west sice 
of the street, the largest concentration of this type of building can be found along the bor­ 
ders of the cultivated fields to the east, lined up in a staggered progression, all with an 
east-west orientation (Photograph #1, 19).
Historic land use patterns are still maintained in the district. From the air the seventeeth- 
century strip pattern of land division is still evident (Photograph #1). The original grants 
of land in Windsor Farms extended back from the river and encompassed all types of land: marsh 
and raeadowland suitable for cultivation near the river, and woodlots on the higher ground to 
the east. Although the floodplain had been occupied on a seasonal basis for thousands of years 
by native Americans prior to contact, the settlers from Windsor, the parent town on the west 
bank of the Connecticut, wisely chose to "lay out their homelots above^e encroachment line 
of the river, establishing the linear village plan that exists today. A maxiinum amount_of farm­ 
land, under cultivation since settlement and brought into total production in the mid-nine­ 
teenth century, is still farmed today (1300-1500 acres) , leaving a nujiujinl amount of land for 
residential use along this major thoroughfare. At regular intervals, secondary roads crossed 
Main Street from west to east at the borders of the first land grants. Today only the eastern 
half of these roads is maintained. From Main Street west to the river, the roads, including 
Vibert Road, an offset extension of Pleasant Valley Road, are uninproved and generally limitea 
to farm vehicular traffic. The western half of Governor's Highway, originally running down to 
a ferry landing, no longer exists. With the exception of North King Street and Chapel Road, 
which still are lined with historic houses especially on the north side, most of the land 
along these side roads was undeveloped farmland until about 1960. Small lots have been sold 
for residential development along Governor's Highway, Pleasant Valley and Chapel roads. Tobac 
co bams and open fields are still located immediately adjacent to Newberry Road, which has not 
been developed (Photograph #19).
The district contains a high concentration of contributing buildings and one site (132/180; 
74%). Ihe historic houses were built between 1694 and 1931. Approximately one-fourth of these 
were constructed prior to 1800, including three exceptional survivals from the late seventeenth 
century (Inventory #128, 134, 165; Photographs #2, 3) . Most of the remaining houses were built 
in the nineteenth century; 20 before 1850, and 40 more after that date. An additional 17 ̂ 
houses were constructed in the first decades of the twentieth century. Public buildings in the 
district include an 1845 Greek Revival-style wood-frame church (Inventory #118; Photograph #11), 
and a library and school, both constructed of brick (Inventory #84, 82). Two former nine­ 
teenth century schools, now in use as residences, are also located in the district (Inventory



8. Significance

Period
__ prehistoric 
__ 1400-1499 

1500-1599
X 1600-1699

_X_ 1700-1799 
_X_ 1800-1 899 
_X- 1900-

Criteria A

Areas of Significance   Check and justify below
____ archeology-prehistoric   community planning 
-.___ archeology-historic . conservation 

X agriculture _ _ _ economics
_X architecture
._.._ art 

commerce
_ _ communications

and C

education
_. engineering 

._ exploration/settlement
industry
invention

..._ .. landscape architecture. _ religion 
- _ law __ science 

literature sculoture
._ _ military
__ music 

philosophy
politics/government

X~ social/
humanitarian 
theater
transportation
other (specify)

Specific dates 1930-1935_________Builder/Architect Unknown

Statement of Significance (in one paragraph)

The Windsor Farms Historic District, the historic center of South Windsor, is a well- 
preserved, rural-residential community of great historic significance. It is one of the 
few farming villages remaining in Connecticut still devoted to tobacco agriculture (Criterion 
A). Unlike the more typical historic rural areas of the state where the historic components 
are widely scattered, the Windsor Farms Historic District is a highly concentrated, cohesive 
entity. Not only does it contain a significant group of farmhouses, barns, and other spec­ 
ialized buildings related to tobacco agriculture, it also encompasses approximately 1500 
acres of contiguous historic farmland which has been under intensive cultivation for more 
than 300 years. In addition to the more than 50 tobacco barns or sheds, the district contains 
well-preserved examples of major domestic building types and styles dating from 1694 to 1930, 
including a particularly fine, representative group of nineteenth-century houses built in 
the Greek Revival, Italianate, Queen Anne, and Colonial Revival styles (Criterion C).

History:

Tobacco has been grown in central Connecticut since the early 1600s. It was first introduced 
in the colony when seeds were brought from Virginia in 1640. Tobacco proved to be an ideal 
crop for the Connecticut River Valley. A fast growing surface feeder, it matured in the short 
northern growing season and flourished in the rich, well-drained soil of the alluvial flood- 
plain of the river. Tobacco production was generally limited to the home grower and its use 
was regulated by the General Court in the seventeenth century. Protective import tariffs 
were introduced by the colony when it became a profitable cash crop in the eighteenth century. 
Although the cultivation and curing of tobacco was, and still is extremely labor-intensive, 
the crop was worth considerably more per acre than the more conventional cash crops of the 
colonial period, such as flax, wheat or rye. By the middle of the nineteenth century, 249 
large farms in the state were raising 47,799 pounds of seed leaf for cigar wrappers." The 
number of these farms has dwindled in recent years. ;1obacco production has declined since 
the 1950s, primarily because of the scarcity and high cost of unskilled labor. As it has be­ 
come less profitable to raise tobacco, the fields have fallen into disuse or been sold for 
development. Groups of tobacco barns, once a familar sight throughout the Connecticut River 
Valley, have been abandoned or demolished.

By contrast, tobacco farming has been the economic mainstay of the Windsor Farms Historic 
District since the seventeenth century. with a thriving riverport at East Windsor Hill, 
only two miles to the north, farmers in the district had a ready market for their crop by 
the early eighteenth century. The Town of Windsor, of which South Windsor was a part until 
1768, found it necessary to appoint an'Inspector and Presser of Tobacco," along with the more 
common colonial officals, to supervise the grading and packing of tobacco in hogsheads for 
shipment to the West Indies, South America, and Europe. By 1752 village farmers supplied 
26,000 pounds for export by East Windsor Hill merchants. According to Deacon Abner Reed's 
records, the price of tobacco fluctuated widely in this period; in a bad year it sold for 
as little as five cents a pound. Black slaves and semi-indentured Indians provided most 
of the labor on the larger farms. Smaller subsistence farmers, who raised only small amounts 
for barter or cash, depended on their families for help in the fields during the harvest and



9. Major Bibliographical References
See continuation sheet.

10. Geographical Data
Acreage of nominated property 1665
Quadrangle name Manchester and NDrth Hartford

UTM References See continuation sheet.
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Verbal boundary description and justification
See continuation sheet.

List all states and counties for properties overlapping state or county boundaries N.A.

state code county code

state code county code

11. Form Prepared By

name/title jan CunnJngham, Consultant,Edited by John Herzan, National Register Coordinator 

organization Cunninqham Associates_______________date 6/85___________________

street & number 98 Washington Street telephone (203) 347 4072

city or town Middletown state Connecticut

12. State Historic Preservation Officer Certification
The evaluated significance of this property within the state is: 

__ national _JL state __ local

As the designated State Historic Preservation Officer for the National Historic Preservation Act of 1966 (Public Law 89- 
665), I hereby nominate this property for inclusion in the National Register and certify that it has been evaluated 
according to the criteria and procedures set forth by the National Park Service.

State Historic Preservation Officer signature

John W. Shannahan, 
title Director, Connecticut Historical Commission date February 5. 1986

For NFS use only 
I toreby certify is property is included in the National Register

of the National Register

GPO 91 1-399
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2. Location

60, 70, 99, 104, 112, 120, 140 Chapel Road; 712-786, 787, 795 North King Street; 
340- 1370, 347-1401 Main Street; Map 5:11,12,13; Map 6: 1,2,3,4,5,6,7,8,9,10,11, 
12,13; Map 7: 1,2,3,4,5; Map 8: I,2,3 f 4; Map 10: 14,15,16,17,24; Map 11: 1,2,3; 
Map 12: 1,2,3; Map 13: 1,3,6,7,8,9,10; Map 14: 1,2,3; Map 15: 1,2,3; Map 18: 5,18, 
35,36,53,56; Map 19: 8,13,24,30,44,45,49,57,59,60,65,68; Map 20: 5,6,17,20,23,29, 
30,32; Map 21: 13,19,23; Map 22: 2; Map29: 29; Map 31: 10,13,15,19,21,29; Map 32: 
1,3; Map 33: 4 and Map 19: 44,45 on Pleasant Valley RDad.

6. Representation in Existing Surveys

Report of the South Windsor Historic Study Committee, n.d.

North-Central Lowlands Archaeological Survey, South Windsor, CT, 1979.

Depository for survey records: Connecticut Historical Commission
59 South Prospect Street 
Hartford, Connecticut

Works Project Administration, Connecticut Survey, 1937. 

Colonial Dames Reports on Historic Houses in Connecticut, 1913. 

Depository: Connecticut State Library, Hartford, Connecticut.
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#16, 158). Historically several buildings were used for commercial (retail) purposes; only 
one stiTl functions in that capacity (Inventory #92). Several examples of farmworkers' hou­ 
sing have been identified in the district, including an early nineteenth-century rental house 
(probably a boarding house) owned by a tobacco grower (Inventory #68; Photograph #5), and a 
late example, the Pinney Workers' House on Chapel Street (Inventory #7). More than fifty to­ 
bacco barns and sheds, a major building type of the late nineteenth and early twentieth cen­ 
turies, and three tobacco warehouses'are standing in the district, as well as two water towers 
in use by tobacco growers today.2

The tobacco barns and sheds (the terms are used interchangeably) are all elongated, gable-roofed 
buildings, built in a traditional manner with a post-and-beam framing system of bents. Some 
of these buildings date from the nineteenth century; all of them definitely pre-date 1920. 3 
The standard width is 30 feet with an average length of 125 feet, although some of the sheds 
in the district exceed 200 feet in length. Ihey all have weathered, vertical-board siding; 
most of the wood-shingled roofs have been replaced with metal roofing. In addition to their 
extreme length, another characteristic feature of these buildings, distinguishing them from 
other types of barns, is the use of moveable siding boards. Every other board on the side ele­ 
vations can be tilted for ventilation. Additional ventilation is provided by four small 
hinged openings in the gable ends, two above the sill and two others over the plate. Both 
gable ends also contain large, hinged, double doors.

Most of the houses in the district are of wood-frame construction, both post-and-beam and 
balloon framed, two-and-one-half stories in height. Despite the presence of brickyards in 
town since the mid-eighteenth century, only two historic houses and two public buildings util­ 
ize this material. Brick, however, was a favored material for chimney stacks from settlement 
and after 1830, foundations. Prior to this time, red sandstone was in universal use for the under­ 
pinning of houses, a use that persisted well into the twentieth century, long after concrete 
was used elsewhere. A Federal-style house that extends back from the corner of Main and New- 
berry streets appears to be constructed with hand-made brick (Inventory # 11; Photograph #6), 
while a later Queen Anne-style house makes full use of harder-fired, machine made brick for 
extensive corbelling and decorative brick patterning (Inventory #100; Photograph #14).

Integral or attached rear ells and an extended rear roofline give all the late seventeenth- 
century houses a typical "saltbox" configuration. Only one room and the chimney stack of the 
Moore House are believed to date from that period, with the rest of the building added a few 
years later. However, it displays the same deep gable overhang and five-bay configuration as 
the John Moore House built by the father in Windsor in 1660 (Inventory #165; Photograph #3). 4 
These early houses, along with a representative group of eighteenth-century houses in the 
district, including . gambrel-rcofed cottages and several well-preserved, three- and- five-bay, 
center-chimney houses, serve to recall the town's early history. This group includes the 1778 
Georgian/Colonial home of Aaron Chapin (Inventory #99), the famous cabinet maker, and the cir­ 
ca 1750 house built by Deacon Abner Reed (Inventory #108). A deacon of the Congregational 
church who has left an iirportant historical record, Reed was also noted for his work as a bank 
note engraver. With the exception of the Wareham Moore House, which has an exceptionally fine 
spiral staircase, none of the houses from this period approach the level of etyle found in the 
houses built in the Georgian and Federal periods in East Windsor Hill, the riverport commun­ 
ity to the north of Windsor Farms. ^
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Farmhouses built after 1830 in the Greek Revival style are much more sophisticated, dis­ 
playing an exceptional range of form and style. Only farmhouses in the functional sense, the 
Samuel T. Wolcott House, and to a lesser degree, the Dr. Horace Gillette House, are quite 
formal buildings. Both have matching wings attached on either side of the main block. The 
hip-roofed main block of the Wolcott House has a two-story, colonnaded porch in the Doric or­ 
der, and a flush-boarded facade with fine applied detailing: beveled corner blocks on the 
window surrounds and a beveled key block over the entrance door (Inventory #66; Photograph #8). 
The pedijTHnted, two-bay facade of the Gillette House has an unusual center pilaster, as well 
as the more typical corner pilasters, and one-story, columned porches on the set-back wings 
(Inventory #160; Photograph #7). The hip-roofed form of the Wblcott House is repeated in another 
Greek Revival-style house at 621 Main Street, which also features a high entablature pierced 
by attic windows, and an entrance portico (Inventory # 52; Photograph #9). More typically, 
the remaining houses built in this style have a gable-to-street orientation, and display 
pedimented gables and Greek Revival-style doorways. Several of these have extensive rear addi­ 
tions, creating the elongated type of farmhouse more commonly found in northern New England 
(Inventory #19, 66; Photograph #10).

As expected, a greater range of style was utilized in the last half of the nineteenth century. 
Influences of all the major domestic styles can be found on some of the plainer nineteenth- 
century vernacular houses; individual examples of more "high style" farmhouses, again exhibi­ 
ting a greater degree of sophistication, add diversity to the streetscape. The Italianate- 
style house at 1042 Main Street, the Carpenter Gothic-style Commodore Greene House, and the 
John N. King House are examples of this latter type. They are all exceptionally well preserved. 
The Greene House has many features of the Carpenter Gothic style: board-and-batten siding, 
steeply pitched gables, diamond-paned windows, and an extended finial with a drop in the cen­ 
tral gable peak. The house is crowned by a large, multi-flued brick chimney which emphasizes 
its verticality (Inventory #133; Photograph #13). The Gothic influence can also be seen on 
the Italianate house in the design of the cut work of the trim that runs along the eaves of 
the roof of the main block, and is repeated on the wrap-around verandah (Inventory #62; Photo­ 
graph #12). The Second Empire House built by King, the only example of this style in the dis­ 
trict, has a bell-cast profile on the mansard roof of both the house and its centrally located, 
square tower. A bracketed Italianate-style portico, bay windows and a side porch set in 
the recessed north side of the main block complete the styling of this imposing building (In­ 
ventory #87; Photograph #21). The Stick-style influence, chiefly manifested in the detailing 
of the gable peaks or spandrels of the porches, or in the variety of turned porch columns and 
spindles on otherwise unadorned farmhouses, such as the William Jennings House (Inventory #85; Pho­ 
tograph #17) and the Parsonage (Inventory #106; Photograph #15), was quite common in the dis­ 
trict in the last few decades of the nineteenth century. A few of these later houses also 
display imbricated shingles in the gables. Only one house, however, can truly be considered 
Stick style, the John P. Jones House (Inventory #137; Photograph #18), which fully utilizes the 
sunburst pattern in the gables, and displays several types of siding on the walls. The pro­ 
nounced asymmetry of the building, emphasized by the tower, suggests the influence of 
the Queen Anne style, a stylistic tradition also found in the later Colonial Revivals. Almost 
all of the houses built around the turn of the century are similar in design, with steep, hipped 
roofs, projecting gables, and Colonial Revival-style porches with paired columns. A matched 
pair of these houses is located on lower Main Street (Inventory #24, 25). Two other similar 
houses in the same area are the John Reardon House (Inventory #33; Photograph #23) and the 
William Kinnery House (Inventory #12; Photograph #22). Enough similarities exist between all 
of these houses to suggest the hand of the same builder.
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Inv. # Map/Lot # Address Description C/NC Photo

1.

2.

3.

4.

5.

6.

-7.

9.

10.

11.

18:56

18:48

12

18:38 _ Chapel Rd. 

60 Chapel Rd. 

99 Chapel Rd. 

104 Chapel Rd. 

112 Chapel Rd. 

120 Chapel Rd.

128 Chapel Rd. 

140 Chapel Rd. 

_ Chapel Rd. 

_ Chapel Rd. 

712 North King

756 North King

Tobacco barn . c

19th-century Domestic, c. 1860 C

Modern residence NC

Cross gable with hip roof, c. 1900 C

Modern residence NC

PINNEY'S WORKERS' HOUSE C 
19th-century Domestic, c. 1880 
Tobacco barn to rear

Modern residence NC

19th-century Domestic, c. 1860 C

Tobacco barn C

Two tobacco barns C

19th-century Domestic, c. 1880 C 
with barn on property

WILLIAM KINNERY HOUSE C 
Colonial Revival, hip roof, 1902 
Several barns

13. 

14.

15.

16.

17.

18.

770 North King 

17:20 North King

786 North King 

787 North King

795 North King

340 Main Street

Greek Revival, c. 1840 

Greek Revival, c. 1840
Moved to site 1984 

Victorian cottage, c. 1880

Schoolhouse, c. 1850 
Converted to residence 1924

Workers ' Housing , 1931

Modern residence

C 

C

C

C

C

w:

not assigned a number. Historic barns associated with an inventoried property are included 
in the listing of that property; barns on seoararte lots are assigned an individual number. 
These ancillary buildings are not dated in the listing. See Item #7 for a discussion of the 
dating of tobacco barns or sheds.
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Inv. # Map/LDt # Address Description

Page

C/NC Photo. #

19

10:14

347 Main Street

Main Street

20.

21.

22.

23.

24.

25.

26.

27.

28.

29.

30.

31.

32.

33.

34.

35.

36.

37.

350 Main Street

360 Main Street

369 Main Street

372 Main Street

379 Main Street

380 Main Street

387 Main Street

10:21 Main Street

402 Main Street

409 Main Street

419 Main Street

10:24 Main Street

447-449 Main Street

452 Main Street

465 Main Street

466 Main Street

482 Main Street

501 Main Street

507 Main Street

Greek Revival, c. 1840 C 
Four barns

Vacant lot

Modern residence NC 

Greek Revival, c. 1840 C 

Gambrel, c. 1780 C 4

Tobacco Warehouse, c. 1880 C 19 
Water tower to rear

Colonial Revival, c. 1900 C 

19th-century Domestic C 

Colonial Revival, c. 1900 C 

Vacant lot

STEAMBOAT HOUSE, 1838 C 
Greek-Revival with barn

Greek Revival, c. 1850 with barn C

Modern residence NC

Barn and two sheds C

AUGUSTUS FITCH HOUSE C 
Colonial, c. 1760 with six barns

Greek Revival, c. 1840 with barn C

JOHN REARDAN HOUSE C 23 
Queen Anne, 1911 with one 11-bay barn

Modern residence NC

Greek Revival, c. 1840 C

Modern residence NC

19th-century Domestic, c. 1880 C 
Four barns, one with monitor
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Inv.

38.

39.

40.

41.

42.

43.

44. 

45.

46.

47.

48.

49.

50.

51.

52.

53.

54.

55.

56.

# Map/ Lot # Address

516 Main Street

18:47 Main Street

525 Main Street

535 Main Street

18:47 Main Street

540 Main Street

559 Main Street

564 Main Street

18:18 Main Street

567 Main Street

585 Main Street

588 Main Street

595 Main Street

601 Main Street

609 Main Street

618 Main Street

621 Main Street

634 Main Street

637 Main Street

644 Main Street

18:35 Main Street

Description   C/NC Photo. #

HENRY E. PITKIN HOUSE 
19th-century Domestic, 1880 
Two barns, other outbuildings

Vacant lot 

Modern residence

Modern residence

Vacant lot 

Greek Revival, c. 1850 with barn

20th-century Domestic, 1923 
Two barns (one is brick c. 1800)

Modern residence

Three tobacco barns 

Colonial Revival, c. 1910

Gambrel, c. 1780

WOLOOTT-HITCHCOCK HOUSE 
Colonial /Greek Revival, c. 1756/1840 
with barn

Georgian/Colonial Revival, c. 1780/1910

19th-century Domestic, c. 1880

Modern residence

19th-century Domestic, c. 1880

Greek Revival, c. 1840, three barns

19th-century Domestic, c. 1890

Modern residence

Colonial Cape reproduction, 1938

Tobacco shed

C

NC

NC

C

C

NC

C 

C

C

C

C

C

NC

C

C 9

C

NC

NC

C
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57.

58.

59.

60.

61.

ation sheet South ]

# Map/Lot #

18:36

19:65

645

653

657-659

Windsor, Gonn<

Address

Main Street

Main Street

Main Street

Main Street

Main Street

scticut item number '

Description

Tobacco shed

Two tobacco sheds

Modern residence

Modern residence

EDWIN D. FARNHAM HOUSE

Page '

C/NC Photo. #

C

C

NC

NC

C

62.

63.

64.

65.

66.

67.

68.

69.

70.

71.

72.

73.

74.

75.

76.

660 Main Street

673 Main Street 

676 Main Street 

682 Main Street

695 Main Street

696 Main Street 

715-717 Main Street

725 Main Street 

19:60 __ Main Street 

19:13 __ Main Street 

12:13 ___ Main Street

726 Main Street

19:57 Main Street

733 Main Street

738 Main Street

Italianate c. 1860 with two barns

COMMODORE CHARLES GREENE HOUSE C 
Carpenter gothic, 1851 with two 
tobacco barns at rear

Colonial Revival, 1906 C 

Modern residence NC

REVEREND SAMUEL TUDOR HOUSE C 
Colonial Cape. 1757

SAMUEL T. WOLCOTT HOUSE C 
Greek Revival, 1839 with water tower 
extended wood-frame horsebarn to north

Colonial Revival, 1912 C

Georgian Colonial, c. 1780 C

Modern residence NC

Five tobacco barns; one shed C

Tobacco shed; barn with shed attached C

Water Pollution Control Plant, 1982 NC 
Buildings set well back from street

Tobacco Warehouse with one tobacco C 
barn . and watertower, c. 1860

Two tobacco barns C 

Modern residence NC

20th-century Domestic, c. 1910 C 
Two barns

13
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77.

78.

79.

80.

81.

82.

83.

84.

85.

86.

87.

88.

89.

90.

91.

92.

93.

94.

19:30

741 Main Street

749 Main Street

756 Main Street

757 Main Street

763 Main Street

771 Main Street

772 Main Street 

783 Main Street

788 Main Street

789 Main Street 

793 Main Street

798 Main Street

Greek Revival, c. 1840 
barns

Modern residence

THE JONES HOUSE 
Shingle, 1909.

ABIEZER PORTED HOUSE 
Georgian, 1835

Queen Anne, c. 1890 with barn

UNION DISTRICT SCHOOL 
Romanesque, c. 1890

NATHANIEL T. JONES HOUSE 
Queen Anne, 1875

WOOD MEMORIAL LIBRARY 
Neo-classical, 1926

WILLIAM N. JENNINGS HOUSE 
Stick, 1893

19th-century Domestic, c. 1880

JOHN NEWBERRY KING HOUSE 
Second Empire, c. 1870

DANIEL HAYDEN HOUSE 
Colonial, 1767; porch c. 1879

Main Street Three tobacco sheds

808 Main Street

809 Main Street 

819-821 Main Street

824 Main Street 

831 Main Street

HORACE VIBERT HOUSE 
Colonial Revival, 1901

JOSIAH BRAGS HOUSE 
Greek Revival. 1835

FOSTER-PARMELEE HOUSE 
Late Greek Revival, 1860

Modern Residence 

Modern Post Office

NC 

C

C

C 

C

C

c

c

NC 

NC

17

21
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95.

96.

97.

Map/ Lot # Address

840 Main Street

845 Main Street

852 Main Street

Description

Colonial Revival, c. 1920

19th-century Domestic, c. 1880

STOUGHTON HOUSE

C/NC

C

C

C

Photo. #

98.

99.

100.

101.

102.

103.

104.

105.

106.

107.

108.

109.

110.

111.

863 Main Street

870 Main Street 

880 Main Street

887 Main Street

892-894 Main Street

895 Main Street

905 Main Street

906 Main Street

920 Main Street

921 Main Street 

932 Main Street 

935 Main Street

951 Main Street 

954 Main Street

Federal, 1825

ZEBULON KING HOUSE C
Colonial, c. -1-760
Used as library/masonic hall 19th century

AARON CHAPIN HOUSE C 
Georgian 1778

CHANDLER T. WARD HOUSE C 
Queen Anne, c. 1875

19th-century Domestic, c. 1880 C 

Colonial, c. 1780, with three barns 

Modern residence NC 

Greek Revival, c. 1840 C

WALTER NEWBERRY HOUSE C 
19th-century Domestic 1869 with barn

PARSONAGE FIRST CHURCH C 
Stick, 1883

JOHN KING HOUSE C 
Greek Revival, c. 1840

ABNER REED HOUSE C 
Colonial, c. 1750

LOQMIS HOUSE C 
Georgian, c. 1740

19th-century Domestic, c. 1890 C

ARNOLD ALLEN HOUSE C 
Federal, 1805

14

15

112, 29:29 Main Street Two tobacco barns C
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113.

114.

115.

116.

117.

118.

119.

120.

121. 

122.

123.

124.

125. 

126.

127.

128.

129.

130.

131.

132.

133.

134.

Map/ 'Lot # Address

960 Main Street

965 Main Street

972 Main Street

982 Main Street

988 Main Street

20:13 Main Street

20:19, Main Street
24, 50

996 Main Street

20:13 Main Street

999 Main Street

1005 Main Street

1008 Main Street

20:30 Main Street

1013 Main Street

1016 Main Street

1021 Main Street

1024 Main Street

1028 Main Street

1031 Main Street

1039 Main Street

1042 Main Street

1047 Main Street

iwiiHMHi
aKKeStaaSBfcftoBoflSSBptigSffl9m§3Ss&8&3s£B8SB§SSSS88&

istoric Places
i Form
: District ^HHHWBi 
ticut jtem number '

Description

JOHN NEWBERRY HOUSE 
Gambrel, 1785

Colonial, c. 1780 with two barns

Modern residence

Modern residence

Queen Anne, c. 1890

FIRST CONGREGATIONAL CHURCH 
Greek Revival, 1845

CENTER CEMETERY

Modern residence

Tobacco shed 

Modern residence

Colonial, c. 1780

Modern residence

Tobacco barn (fire-damaged) 

19th-century Domestic , 1880

Modern residence

SAMUEL PORTER HOUSE 
Colonial saltbox, 1694

Georgian, c. 1780

Modern residence

Modern residence

19th-century Domestic, c. 1890

Italianate /Gothic Revival, c. 1860

JOHN SKINNER HOUSE

«8sgEagg^»^EflaBB8Bflflsa^^»fH^ggfflP
HMro^^^^^^^^^^^^^^^^^^^^^^ggHBw

^^^^^^^^^^^^^^^^Mjjm^j 

Page 10

C/NC Photo. #

C

C

NC

NC

C

c 11

c

NC

C

NC

C

NC

NC 

C

NC

C

C

NC

NC

C

C 12

C 2
Colonial saltbox, 1697
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135.

136.

137.

138.

139.

140.

141.

142.

143.

144.

145.

146.

147.

148.

149.

150.

151.

152.

153.

154.

155

1055 Main Street 

1060 Main Street 

1063 Main Street

1075 Main Street 

21:13 ___ Main Street

1076 Main Street

1090 Main Street

1091 Main Street

1101 Main Street

1106 Main Street

1115-1117 Main Street

1121 Main Street 

1126 Main Street 

1136 Main Street 

Main Street21:23

1139 Main Street 

1146 Main Street 

1155 Main Street 

1169 Main Street

Modern residence

South Windsor Convalescent Home

JOHN. P. JONES HOUSE 
Queen Anne/Stick, 1882

Modern residence

Two-barns and tobacco warehouse

Queen Anne, c. .1880

Modern residence with two barns

Colonial, c. 1780 with barn

Greek Revival, c. 1850

Modern residence

BENONI OLCOTT HOUSE
Colonial, c. 1750 with two barns

Modern residence

Modern residence

Stick, c. 1890

Tobacco barn

Colonial Revival c. 1930 with barn

Greek Revival, c. 1850 with barn

Modern residence

ROGER WOLCOTT HOUSE 
Colonial gambrel, c. 1703

21:19 Main Street Tobacco shed

NC 

NC 

C

NC

C

C

C

C

C

NC

C

NC

NC

C

C

C

C

NC

C

C

18

16

1170 Main Street Colonial Revival, c. 1920; three barns C
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156.

157.

158.

159.

160.

161.

162.

163.

164.

165.

166.

167.

31:19 

31:21 

31:29

168.

169.

170.

171.

31:15

31:13

1185 Main Street

1200 Main Street 

1209 Main Street

1216 Main Street 

1225 Main Street

___ Main Street

___ Main Street

Main Street

1236 Main Street 

1245 Main Street

1270 Street

1281 Main Street

Main Street

31:13

1284 Main Street 

___ Main Street

1299 Main Street

1300 Main Street 

___ Main Street 

1305 Main Street

ENOCH PELTON HOUSE C 
19th-century Domastic, 1897

Modern residence NC

DISTRICT #2 SCHOOLHOUSE C 
Greek Revival, 1845

Colonial Revival, 1920 C

DR. HORACE GILLETTE HOUSE C 
Greek Revival, 1829

Tobacco shed and other shed C

Tobacco Barn C

Tobacco shed C

Greek Revival, c. 1840 C

JOHN MOORE HOUSE C 
Colonial saltbox, 1694

SAMUEL MOORE HOUSE C 
Greek Revival, c. 1840

WARHAM MOORE HOUSE C
Colonial/Greek Revival, c. 1800/1840
Town Clerk's Office, 19th and 20th centuries

Vacant lot

Modern residence NC

Vacant lot

Colonial , c. 1750 with barn C

Modern residence NC

Vacant lot

19th-century Domestic, c. 1880; barn C
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172.

173.

174.

175.

176.

177.

178.

179.

180.

31:10 Main Street

32:1

1330 Main Street 

1335 Main Street

1349 Main Street

1350 Main Street

1370 Main Street

Main Street

Vacant lot 

Modern residence 

Modern residence 

Modern residence 

Modern residence

NC 

NC 

NC 

NC

1371-1375 Main Street

32:3 ___ Main Street

1401 Main Street

19:44 Pleasant valley Rd. 

19:45 Pleasant Valley Rd.

Greek Revival, c. 1840; porch, c. 1880 C 

Vacant lot

Greek Revival, c. 1840 with barn C 

Vacant lot

SILAS TERRY HOUSE C 
Colonial garabrel, 1720 with barns

Two tobacco sheds 

Tobacco shed

C 

C

10
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at packing time each November.

It was not until the nineteenth century that tobacco became the major crop grown in the 
Windsor Farms Historic District.^ Improved technology for drying and curing, including the 
first use of heated and vented tobacco sheds, and horse-drawn "setters" for planting, made 
it possible to grow the finer grades of Havana seed leaf much in demand for making cigars. 
By the Civil War South Windsor was well known for this product. "Long Nines" and "Windsor 
Particulars" were two of the better known brands of cigars rolled from locally grown leaf 
by farmers' wives who sold their product throughout the state from peddlars 1 wagons. 
Leaf tobacco and cigars were also shipped by rail from South Windsor by mid-century. Tobacco 
land leases and the sale of curing leaf first appeared in the land records in the 1870s, 
an indication of its importance and economic value in this period. Phrases such as "now 
hanging on poles in the shed of the grantor," or "hung in part and in part stripped in buil­ 
dings on the premises" were common in local land transactions.^

Shade-grown tobacco, which produces an exceptionally fine leaf for the outside wrapper of 
cigars, first introduced in Windsor Farms in 1901 by Marcus Floyd, was a decided boost to 
the tobacco industry. The lesser grades were reserved for the binders and fillers. Floyd 
was also the first agriculturalist to bring migrant workers to South Windsor (primarily 
Blacks from the South) to alleviate the seasonal labor shortage. Shade tobacco, along with 
the regular field grown, was cultivated until the 1970s. Most of the available farmland 
in South Windsor is still in use for tobacco agriculture today. Tobacco companies that 
maintain warehouses in the district (Inventory #23, 73, 139; Photograph #20) grow and cure 
the binder and filler grades in the local fields, but process the tobacco outside the dis­ 
trict in modern plants.H

Cultivation and curing methods have changed very little in the last century. Plowing and 
tilling is now done by modern tractors, but horse-drawn setters are still to be seen working 
the fields each Spring. Young plants, grown from seed in cold frames, are set out in the 
fields in May. Tilling and side dressing with fertilizer take place every week during the 
growing season. Maturing plants, pinched back by hand, take fourteen weeks to mature. After 
the harvest in August the plants are strung on a lath in the field, then taken to the long 
sheds to be hung on poles to cure under temperature- and- humidity-controlled conditions. 
The final step is the packing and sorting of the leaf in the warehouses.

The rapid expansion of the tobacco business in the nineteenth century produced a building 
boom of major proportions. Colonial houses on Main Street were torn down or moved to make 
way for the larger, more stylish houses of the Victorian period. More than twenty Greek 
Revival-style buildings were constructed between 1830 and 1850, including the church (Inven­ 
tory #118), and the district school (Inventory #158). The old village church, which stood 
in the middle of Main Street near the center of the district, was replaced with the present 
building. Both buildings were paid for by tobacco money; the earlier directly through the 
sale of tobacco, the later through donations from wealthy growers.

Many of the nineteenth-century agriculturalists, as they preferred to be known, were promi­ 
nent in local and state politics. 12 Their increased status and wealth is reflected in the 
quality of their hones, such as the 1839 Greek Revival-style house of Samuel T. Wolcott (In­ 
ventory #19; Photograph #8) . The Wolcotts were a distinguished family involved in raising
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tobacco since at least the early eighteenth century; Samuel was a direct descendant of 
Roger T. Vfolcott, a colonial governor from 1750-1754 (Inventory #153). John Newberry 
King, another member of an old South Windsor family, built two houses in the district. He was 
the son of Zebulon King;(Inventory #98), who came to South Windsor in the eighteenth century. 
(King Street was named for him.) John, the first grower in town to use tobacco sheds for curing, 
was elected a state representative in 1879. Shortly before his death in 1895, he built the 
only Second Empire-style house in the district (Inventory #87; Photograph #21).

Enoch Pelton, one of the largest nineteenth-century tobacco growers, was the son of a brick- 
maker and tanner, John Pelton. Although at one time Enoch owned or leased 300 acres of farm­ 
land in the district, the house that he built in 1895 was a very simply detailed, vernacular 
farmhouse (Inventory #156). Most of the larger growers in this period built relatively ela­ 
borate houses. They included the Jones brothers who came to South Windsor about 1850/ Na­ 
thaniel Jones lived in several houses before building a Queen Anne-style house at 772 Main 
Street (Inventory #83). His brother John Pantry Jones built an exceptional Queen Anne/Stick- 
style house in 1882, the year he was elected to the General Assembly (Inventory #137; Photo­ 
graph #18). William Jennings, whose father came to South Windsor in 1849, built another 
Stick-style house in 1893 (Inventory #85> Photograph #17), as did Henry Pitkin (Inventorv
#38).

Not all of the new men in town were farmers. Edwin Farnham, who came to town from England 
and served for many years as the chairman of the school board and the tax assessor, soon 
recognized the need for a middle man. A jobber, he made his living buying and selling to­ 
bacco in wholesale lots throughout central Connecticut. Although he is credited with origi­ 
nating this marketing concept, in truth his role in the business was hardly different from 
that of the merchant captain of the eighteenth century, the individual who realized the 
greatest profit from the tobacco trade. His Italianate house was built about 1860 (Inventory
#61).

Several South Windsor men returned to their hometown to take up farming on their families' 
land. Charles Greene, a retired naval commodore, built his exceptional Carpenter Gothic- 
style house in 1851 (Inventory #62; Photograph #13), where he lived the life of a gentleman 
farmer, leasing his land to other growers. John N. King's son Isaac, George Bancroft, 
and Leonidas Chandler shared similar experiences in the American West before returning home 
after the Civil War. Only Chandler served in the war, but all three men spent several years 
as prospectors and ranchers in Colorado, Nevada, and Utah. Isaac King prospered on land 
farmed by his family for 150 years. Bancroft took over his father's butcher business and 
grew wealthy raising cattle and tobacco on 400 acres. Chandler also became a tobacco farmer 
and was elected as a state representative in 1879.

The rapid expansion of the tobacco industry in the mid-nineteenth century produced a demand 
for labor which could no longer be met locally. Irish immigrants who did not find work in 
the cities soon arrived in South Windsor. Unlike the situation in the urban industrial cen­ 
ters where the majority of the Immigrants were single men and women, whole familes came to 
the district; children, along with their parents, were hired by the growers. Although the 
Irish never became a significant presence in town in terms of their numbers, several upwardly 
mobile Irishmen, who had worked in the fields as boys, established themselves as landowners 
in the village. Lawrence Daly progressed rapidly from "working shares" (land leased for a
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percentage of the crop) to a farm manager. In 1869 he was able to buy his own farm. 
His widow, who also came to the district as a child, ran the farm for many years after 
his death, raising a tobacco crop known locally for its quality. Dennis Riordan is another 
example. Although the house that he owned is no longer standing, his son John Reardan 
(spelling changed) built a Queen Anne/Colonial Revival-style house nearby which is still 
owned by the family (Inventory #33; Photograph #23). William Kinnery, another successful 
Irish-American, built his house and established a farm on North King Street in 1902 (Inven­ 
tory #12; Photograph #23). Its late Queen Anne/Colonial Revival styling was quite typical 
of the houses built in the prosperous early decades of the twentieth century following the 
introduction of shade tobacco.

Architectural Significance:

Because the growing of tobacco is a highly specialized, land- and- labor-intensive form of 
agriculture, a most unusual historic built environment evolved in Windsor Farms. The dis­ 
trict retains representative components constructed over 200 years that illustrate the his­ 
toric interrelationships of a rare form of farming village a historic district of excep- 
ional integrity and architectural diversity one that is uniquely adapted to the terrain. 
Historic houses line both sides of Main Street as they might in a more urban setting, one 
of the special features of this rural district. Most of these farmhouses "have retained their 
house barns and shed; their tobacco barns, warehouses, and fields are quite literally in the 
backyard  readily < accessible to the farm workers as they have been for centuries. Historic 
public buildings from the late nineteenth century still serve their village functions. Ear­ 
lier buildings used as schools, a library, a post office, and the town clerk's office from 
the early nineteenth century are still intact, although they have been converted, or re­ 
verted to residential use.

Modern intrusion has not significantly disturbed the integrity of the historic environment. 
On Main Street the newer twentieth-century houses are dispersed and compatible in scale; 
clusters of modern houses are confined to the side roads and do not visually intrude upon 
the district. With the exception of a modern convalescent home set veil back from the road, 
but still highly visible, other commerical intrusion is limited to one historic building, 
a continuation of its original function.

The state of preservation of the earliest houses in the district is exceptional. Not only 
are the seventeenth-century houses significant because of their rarity, they have virtually 
retained most of their architectural integrity. Well-preserved eighteenth-century houses 
have survived in sufficient numbers to provide historical and architectural continuity to 
the district, particularly because they are almost equally divided between the colonial and 
post-Revolutionary periods.

The nineteenth century focus of the district is established by significant concentrations 
of two groups of well-preserved buildings. In addition to a large group of historic tobac­ 
co barns, an increasingly rare type, well-preserved and maintained because of their contin­ 
uous usage, 60 nineteenth-century farmhouses were built in Windsor Farms. However, unlike 
the more typical farmhouses of the period, these buildings display an uncommon range and 
and diversity of style. As is the case with the barns, their exceptional state of preser­ 
vation is primarily due to the fact that they have been maintained as part of working farm­ 
steads for most of their history.
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Good representative examples of stylistic trends, as well as one-of-a-kind examples of 
several architectural styles were built in the nineteenth century. Some of the more 
"high-style" houses of this period are still the centerpiece of working farms, for ex­ 
ample, the Samuel T. Wolcott House (Inventory # 19; Photograph #8), the home of the 
family of twentieth-century tobacco grower. An exemplary Greek Revival-style house, one 
that would add distinction to any environment, the Wolcott House is the most notable of 
the many houses influenced by this style in the district. It is distinguished by its 
unusual form the hip-roofed main block with a colonnaded portico flanked by matching one- 
story wings, and its restrained but stylistically pure applied detail. Although tobacco 
fields abut the rear of the property, another distinguished building from the pre-Civil 
War era, the Commodore Greene House (Inventory #62; Photograph #13), is one of the few 
stylish houses which did not serve as a farmhouse sometime in its history. Constructed in 
the Carpenter Gothic-style, it is the only example of this style in the district and the 
Town of South Windsor. Enhanced by its Victorian-period landscaping and the well-preserved 
carriage house, it exemplifies the "villa farmhouse" promoted by A. J. Downing as "lacking 
in ostentation... with as much architectural refinement of feature and expression as pro­ 
perly belong to the subject." 13 Appropriately enough it was built for a country gentleman, 
one who retired to this rural setting to live a life of leisure.

Other individually significant buildings include the John N. King House, a Second Empire- 
style house at the center of the district (Inventory #87; Photgraph #21). One of the few 
domestic buildings of its size in Windsor Farms, it is quite compatible with the massing and 
scale of the adjoining library and school built about the same time. The King House is 
also exceptionally well-preserved. Except for the small square skylights in the tower 
roof, there have been no external changes to the house.

Although most of the late-nineteenth-century houses retain their original architectural 
details, even those which have been sheathed with aluminum or vinyl sidpig, none of them 
approach the level of style and elaboration of the Stick-style John P. Jones House. Its 
unaltered state, with its wealth of architectural detail and decorative surfaces, is enhanc­ 
ed by its historically appropriate color scheme (Inventory # 13; Photograph #18).

A much narrower range of style and form is present in the early-twentieth-century houses 
built in the district. This distinctive group of buildings, however, express the continued 
prosperity of Windsor Farms in this period and complete more than 200 years of architectural 
expression. One of the most typical of this number, again a working farm, is the William 
Kinnery House on North King Street (Inventory #12; Photograph #22). Strongly influenced by 
the Queen Anne style, this Colonial Revival-style farmhouse retains all of its architect­ 
ural features, such as the porch with the pediment in front of the entrance, and the multi- 
paned windows commonly used in this period. The straightforward solid massing of the barns 
on the property add to the historic architectural character of the site, and complement the 
substantial, four-square appearance of the house.

Notes:

1. An archaeological survey in 1979 confirmed the presence of numerous seasonal base 
camps in the floodplain from the Early Archaic through the Late Woodland periods. 
Artifacts were recovered below the plowline under approximately 50 cm. of river silts 
by random stratified sampling methods, using transects. See Kevin McBride et al, "North 
Central Lowlands Archaeological Survey," 1979. Artifacts from the later occupation



NPSForm10-900-a owfl WQ 1024 . 0018

Expires 10-31-87

United States Department off the Interior
National Park Service

National Register off Historic Places 
Inventory—Nomination Form

Windsor Farms Historic District 
Continuation sheet South Windsor, Connecticut item number 8 Page 6

periods have been recovered in the district by Horace Vibert and others since the 
nineteenth century.

2. The current status and methods of tobacco production, and building usage were ob­ 
tained from an interview with James Farrell, head of NuWay Tobacco Company, Sullivan 
Avenue, South Windsor. The company was founded in the early twentieth century by 
.Jean Shepard of Ellington, and' carried,... on by his son until he died in 1971, at which 
time Farrell took over the company. The Shephard Company was the "largest grower in 
the valley in their peak year" (1951). Jean Shephard owned the Samuel T. Wolcott House.

3. Unlike tobacco warehouses and farmhouses, which can be dated from land records and/or 
architectural evidence, tobacco barns pose dating problemsv They have been built in 
exactly the same manner since the beginning, and repaired, or reconstructed over tima. 
In addition, buildings of this type are not identified specifically in the land records. 
Reliable informants, including Doris Burgdoff, a local historian who has lived in town 
all her'life, confirm that none of the existing tobacco barns were built in their lifetimes 
(60 plus years), which places these buildings at least prior to 1920.

4. See Isham and Brown, Early Connecticut- Houses, p. 37 1 39.

5. The village of East Windsor Hill, nominated as a National Register District in 1985 
(currently a local historic district )^ derives its primary significance from its ex­ 
ceptional eighteenth-and-nineteenth-century architecture, produced during its heyday 
as a riverport.

6. Charles Burpee, History of Hartford County, (Hartford: Clarke Publishing Co., 1928).

7. The history of tobacco growing in South Windsor is compiled from several sources. 
See "South Windsor Historical Briefs and Town Facts," pp. 21-25. Other sources from 
the nineteenth century such as Beers seem to suggest that tobacco was first introduced 
in the early part of the nineteeth century in South Windsor, an opinion not confirmed 
by primary sources such as land records, town meeting records and diaries.

8. It is quite clear that the crop was not of major commerical importance until the 
nineteenth century, a fact demonstrated by the growth and wealth of the community from 
that time forward.

9. Cigar making as a cottage industry occupied South Windsor families in the 
winter season until well into the twentieth century. Cigar making in the state 
has declined considerably in recent years. Only two factories turn out hand-rolled 
cigars in the state at the present time. Hartford Courant, June 6, 1985.

10. South Windsor Land Records, 9:77, 1880.

11. Personal communication, James Farrell, 5/85.

12. Biographical material here and the following was taken from J. H. Beers, Co- 
memmorative Biographical Record of Hartford County, (Chicago: 1901).

13. A. J. Downing, The Architecture of Country Houses,(New York, Dover, 1969), p. 164.
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UTM References:

North Hartford and Manchester Quadrangles

Page

A
B
C
D
E
F
G
H
I
J
K

18
18
18
18
18
18
18
18
18
18
18

695760
696210
696520
696920
697130
697280
698200
698210
698300
698290
698030

4631490
4633150
4633750
4634200
4634800
4635380
4635000
4634980
4634900
4634060
4634170

L
M
N
0
P
Q
R
S
T
U
V

18
18
18
18
18
18
18
18
18
18
18

698010
698000
698280
698250
69770
697680
697980
697960
698140
698110
697800

4634120
4634140
4634000
4632460
4632710
4632630
4632480
4632500
4632450
4631570
4630880

Verbal boundary description and justification:

Beginning at a point on the bank of the Connecticut River at the southwestern corner 
of Lot 1, Map 6 as shown on the Tax Assessor's Map of South Windsor (and the Property 
Base Line Map of 1983; revised 5/15/85), the district boundaries extends in a north­ 
easterly direction up the east bank of said river to a point at the northwest corner 
of Lot 4, Map 32. Here the boundary turns to the east along the entire northern pro­ 
perty line of said lot to Main Street, crosses Main Street to a point at the northwest 
corner of Lot 8, Map 31, and extends along the northern and western property lines of 
said lot, to continue in a southerly direction along the rear of Lots 9,10,11,13, and 
14 on Map 31, crosses Lot 15 to continue along the rear lines of Lot 16, 19, 21, and 
around Lot 19 to the rear of Lot 22 and 23 to Governors Highway. After crossing said 
highway at 90° to meet Lot 19, Map 21, the boundary extends around Lot 21 to continue 
in a southerly direction along the rear of Lots 20,21,23, and 3, Map 21 and Lots 27, 
30, 32, and 39, Map 20, crosses Newberry Road to continue along the rear property lines 
of Lot 29, Map 29; Lot 43, 44, 48, 47, Map 20; Lot 30 and 32, Map 19. Here the boundary 
turnB-; to run along the southern property line of Lot 32 until it meets Lot 33, and 
runs along the rear of said lot and Lot 34, and crosses Pleasant Valley Road to the 
northeast corner of Lot 55, Map 19, located at the southeast corner of said road and 
Main Street. The boundary then extends around the rear of said lot to Lot 57, runs 
along the northern property line of said lot to Lot 45, includes said lot and Lot 44, 
before turning once again to the south and extending along the the rear of Lot 60 1 68, 
and 64, and Lot 35, Map 18, and includes Lot 28, 29, 53, Map 18. The boundary turns 
to the south at the rear property line of Lot 21 and crosses Chapel Road to the north­ 
east (rear) corner of Lot 42. At which point it runs along the rear line of said lot 
before turning east along the rear of Lots 40, 39, 51, crosses Lot 38 to return to 
Chapel Road along the eastern property line of Lot 38. Here it turns east and runs 
along the road, (the northern frontage of Lot 48, Map 18)to the Podunk River. The 
boundary follows the the course of sadd river in a southwesterly direction to the taking 
line of Interstate 291 (the access to the Bissell Bridge) at the southeast (rear) corner 
of Lot 15, Map 17. From this point the boundary returns to the west along said taking 
line to the first point.
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Boundary justification:

The boundaries of the district were established on geographical and historical grounds 
to encompass all the conponents of the eighteenth-century farming community known as 
Windsor Farms which became the historical center of South Windsor in the nineteenth century. 
The Connecticut River to the west, the ridgeline of the third terrace to the east, and 
the Route 291 access to the Bissell Bridge on the south form physical barriers on three 
sides. To the north visual continuity is lost due to a high concentration of nodem 
residential development for approximately one-half mile, after 1401 Main Street on the 
west side, and 1370 Main Street on the east side. See also Item #7. paragraph #2,3.
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